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[*1] Defendant's motion to dismiss

CASE SUMMARY:

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Plaintiff consumers sued
defendant mortgage company, alleging that the
company's Lock-In Agreement violated the Truth in
Lending Act (TILA), 15 U.S.C.S. § 1601 et seq., and
implementing Federal Reserve Board Regulation Z, 12
C.F.R. pt. 226. The company moved to dismiss the
complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

OVERVIEW: The consumers complained that the
company's Lock-In Agreement (which provided that if
the consumers' loans failed to close for any reason other
than the company declining to make the loan, the lock-in
fee would be forfeited) was contrary to the right of
rescission afforded by TILA and contradicted Regulation
Z's required disclosures. The company argued that the
consumers failed to state a claim because its Notice of
Right to Cancel used the Board's model Right to Cancel
form. The company also argued that the Lock-In
Agreement applied only to the situation of a loan failing
to close. According to the company, if a loan failed to
close, there was no transaction to rescind; thus, the right
to rescind could not be affected. The court noted that
TILA and Regulation Z did not clearly indicate that the
concept of rescission, or the language requiring a refund
upon rescission, applied to a situation where a loan had
not yet closed. Therefore, a holding that the rescission
and refund provisions applied to such a situation would
constitute an impermissible expansion of the statute and
the regulations. The court was not persuaded that the
statute gave the consumers a right of action.

OUTCOME: The mortgage company's motion to
dismiss the complaint was granted.

CORE TERMS: lock-in, disclosure, rescission,
consumer, cancel, regulation, mortgage loan, rescind,

motion to dismiss, right to rescind, refunded, Lending
Act, lessor, failure to state a claim, statutory right,
interest rate, contradicts, complain, refund

LexisNexis(R) Headnotes

Banking Law > Bank Activities > Consumer Protection
> Truth in Lending

[HN1] Congress enacted the Truth in Lending Act
(TILA), 15 U.S.C.S. § 1601 et seq., to assure a
meaningful disclosure of credit terms so that the
consumer will be able to compare more readily the
various credit terms available to him and avoid the
uninformed use of credit. 15 U.S.C.S. § 1601(a). In
keeping with this purpose, TILA requires creditors to
make clear right of rescission disclosures for certain
consumer credit transactions. 15 U.S.C.S. § 1635.

Banking Law > Bank Activities > Consumer Protection
> Truth in Lending

[HN2] The Federal Reserve Board's set of governing
regulations relating to the Truth in Lending Act, 15
US.C.S. § 1601 et seq., mandate the particular
disclosures that a creditor must make regarding the right
to rescind a transaction in which a security interest is or
will be retained or acquired in a consumer's principal
dwelling. 12 C.F.R. 8 226.23. In a paragraph titled
"Effects of Rescission," the Official Staff Interpretation
of Regulation Z also indicates that upon rescission, the
consumer cannot be required to pay any amount in the
form of money or property either to the creditor or to a
third party as part of the credit transaction and that any
amounts of this nature already paid by the consumer
must be refunded. 12 C.F.R. pt. 226, supp. I, P
23(d)(2)(1).

Banking Law > Bank Activities > Consumer Protection
> Truth in Lending



[HN3] The pronouncements of the Federal Reserve
Board or its staff interpreting the Truth in Lending Act,
15 U.S.C.S. § 1601 et seq., and/or Federal Reserve
Board Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. pt. 226, are dispositive
unless demonstrably irrational.

Banking Law > Bank Activities > Consumer Protection
> Truth in Lending

[HN4] Under the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C.S. §
1601 et seq., a creditor or lessor shall be deemed to be in
compliance with the disclosure provisions of this
subchapter with respect to other than numerical
disclosures if the creditor or lessor uses any appropriate
model form or clause as published by the Federal
Reserve Board. 15 U.S.C.S. 8§ 1604(b). This safe harbor
protection does not extend to another loan document that
is alleged to be inconsistent with the disclosure form.
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OPINION:
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Before the court is defendants' motion to dismiss the
complaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6). For the reasons explained below, the motion is
granted.

BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs, Daniel Sampanetti and Sandra Sampanetti
(who are husbhand and wife), and David A. Bunte, bring
this Truth-in-Lending action against defendant E*Trade
Mortgage Corporation ("E*Trade"), alleging that
E*Trade made a disclosure in an interest rate lock-in
agreement that contradicts a consumer's statutory right to
rescind a mortgage loan transaction.

The complaint alleges the following [*2] facts,
which we take as true for purposes of this motion. On

September 25, 2001, plaintiffs Daniel and Sandra
Sampanetti ("the Sampanettis") applied for a mortgage
loan from E*Trade for refinancing existing debt incurred
for personal, family or household purposes. On October
3, 2002, plaintiff David Bunte applied for a mortgage
loan from E*Trade for the same purpose. When plaintiffs
applied for their loans, they signed a "40-Day Lock-In
Disclosure and Agreement” (the "Lock-In Agreement")
and paid a $ 400.00 interest rate lock-in fee. The Lock-In
Agreement stated in pertinent part:

If you provide [E*Trade] with all
documentation requested of you (within 3
calendar days) to complete the
underwriting review of your loan
application . . and, following such
review, [E*Trade] does not approve your
loan for closing, based on income
qualifying or credit, the lock-in fee will be
refunded to you. If your loan fails to close
for any other reason ([sic] including your
decision to cancel the application, then the
lock-in fee will not be refunded to you.

(Complaint, Exs. F & G, Lock-In Agreements)
(emphasis added). Plaintiffs complain that the last
sentence (in bold) [*3] violates a consumer's statutory
right to rescind a mortgage loan transaction with a full
refund of all amounts paid in connection with the loan.

The Sampanettis obtained their $ 275,000.00 loan on
October 11, 2001, and Bunte obtained his $ 195,000.00
loan on November 1, 2001. In connection with the
transactions, plaintiffs received a Note, a Mortgage, a
Truth-in-Lending disclosure statement, a Notice of Right
to Cancel, and a Settlement Statement. Plaintiffs' claim is
not based on any of these documents. (In fact, as
discussed infra, the Notice of Right to Cancel tracks the
Federal Reserve's "Rescission Model Form.")

The complaint alleges that E*Trade's Lock-In
Agreement violated the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"),
15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and implementing Federal
Reserve Board Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. pt. 226. Plaintiffs
seek to represent a class in relation to their claim. nl

nl The parties agreed to stay briefing on the
pending motion for class certification pending
our ruling on the instant motion to dismiss.

[*4]

Defendants now move to dismiss the complaint.



DISCUSSION

Plaintiffs allege that E*Trade violated the Truth in
Lending Act ("TILA"). [HNZ1] Congress enacted TILA
"to assure a meaningful disclosure of credit terms so that
the consumer will be able to compare more readily the
various credit terms available to him and avoid the
uninformed use of credit." 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a). In
keeping with this purpose, TILA requires creditors to
make clear right of rescission disclosures for certain
consumer credit transactions. See 15 U.S.C. § 1635.

The Federal Reserve Board implemented a set of
governing regulations relating to TILA, commonly
known as Regulation Z. See Ford Motor Credit Co. v.
Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 559-60, 63 L. Ed. 2d 22, 100 S.
Ct. 790 (1980); 12 C.F.R. pt. 226. [HN2] These
regulations mandate the particular disclosures that a
creditor must make regarding the right to rescind a
transaction "in which a security interest is or will be
retained or acquired in a consumer's principal dwelling."
See 12 C.F.R. 8 226.23. In a paragraph titled "Effects of
Rescission," the Official Staff [*5] Interpretation of
Regulation Z also indicates that upon rescission, "the
consumer cannot be required to pay any amount in the
form of money or property either to the creditor or to a
third party as part of the credit transaction™ and that "any
amounts of this nature already paid by the consumer
must be refunded.” 12 C.F.R. pt. 226, Supp. I, P
23(d)(2)(1). n2

n2 The Supreme Court has held that [HN3]
the pronouncements of the Federal Reserve
Board or its staff interpreting TILA and/or
Regulation Z are  "dispositive"  unless
"demonstrably irrational.” Milhollin, 444 U.S. at
565.

Plaintiffs complain that E*Trade's Lock-In
Agreement (which provided that if plaintiffs' loans failed
to close for any reason other than E*Trade declining to
make the loan, the $ 400 lock-in fee would be forfeited)
is contrary to the right of rescission afforded by TILA
and contradicts Regulation Z's required disclosures.
E*Trade argues that plaintiffs fail to state a claim
because its Notice of Right to Cancel used the Federal
[*6] Reserve's model Right to Cancel form. E*Trade
also contends that the Lock-In Agreement applies only to
the situation of a loan failing to close. According to
E*Trade, if a loan has failed to close, there is no
transaction to "rescind"; thus, the right to rescind could
not be affected.

It is true that, [HN4] under TILA, "[a] creditor or
lessor shall be deemed to be in compliance with the

disclosure provisions of this subchapter with respect to
other than numerical disclosures if the creditor or lessor .
. . uses any appropriate model form or clause as
published by the Board." 15 U.S.C. § 1604(b). But that
does not end our inquiry because this safe harbor
protection does not extend to another loan document that
is alleged to be inconsistent with the disclosure form
(here, the Lock-In Agreement). See Leon v. Washington
Mut. Bank, F.A., 164 F. Supp. 2d 1034, 1040 (N.D. IlL.
2001). We must ask whether plaintiff has sufficiently
alleged an inconsistency between the Lock-In Agreement
and the right of the consumer to rescind without payment
of money or property as part of the credit transaction.

The issue is more complicated than E*Trade has
suggested. [*7] Whether plaintiffs have stated a claim
based on a violation of their right to rescind depends
upon the language of TILA and Regulation Z--
specifically, how those provisions define "transaction”
and "rescission.” The parties have not identified, nor can
we find, a statutory or regulatory definition of either
term. TILA and Regulation Z do not clearly indicate that
the concept of rescission, or the language requiring a
refund upon rescission, applies to a situation where a
loan has not yet closed. Therefore, a holding that the
rescission and refund provisions apply to such a situation
would constitute an impermissible expansion of the
statute and the regulations. We are not persuaded that the
statute gives plaintiffs a right of action, given the facts
alleged in the complaint. Accordingly, the complaint is
dismissed for failure to state a claim.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, defendant's motion to
dismiss the complaint is granted.

DATE: October 31, 2002
ENTER:
John F. Grady, United States District Judge
JUDGMENT IN A CIVIL CASE
Decision by Court. This action came to trial or hearing

before the Court. The issues have been tried or heard and
a decision [*8] has been rendered.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the
complaint is dismissed for failure to state a claim.

Date: 11/4/2002






